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Type all entries—complete applicable sections ‘ : '
1. Name
historic Woodland Cemetery
and or common -- same as above-~

2. Location

street & number 6901 Woodland Avenue — not for publication
city, town Cleveland ___vicinity of 21st Congressional District, Louis Stokes
stite Ohio code 039 county Cuyahoga code 035
3. Classification
Category Ownership Status Present Use
— district —= public X occupied — agriculture — museum
building(s) ___ private —— unoccupied — commercial — park
): structure — both — work in progress — educational — private residence
X site Public Acquisition Accessible — entertainment — religious
— object —_in process —— Yyes: restricted — government — scientific
— being considered ——_ yes: unrestricted — industrial — transportation
N/ —_no —_ military X other: Cemetery

4. Owner of Property

name City of Cleveland, Dept. of Parks, Recreation and Properties

street & number W. Laurence Bicking (Director) 1220 East 6th Street

city, town Cleveland —_ vicinity of state Ohio 44114

S. Location of Legal Description

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc.  Cuyahoga County Recorder, (Deeds, Vol 53, pp. 190-191)
street & number 1219 Ontario
city, town Cleveland o Ohio

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

—— Woodland Cemetery Gate, ONLY-- X

/ ‘tle Ohio Historic Inventers has this property been determined eligible? __yes _ * no
date 11/74 — federal _X state ___county ___local
depository for survey records Ohio Historical Center
city, town Columbus state Ohio
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1. Description

“ondition Check one Check one
. excellent — deteriorated __ unaltered — 2 original site
—_ good —_ ruins X _ altered —_moved date
X fair ___ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance

Woodland Cemetery, maintaining practically all of its original 60 acres, Is a
rectangle, having these dimensions; bounded by these city streets: south,
1400 feet along Woodland Avenue; north 1400 feet along Quincy Avenue; east
2000 feet along East 71st Street; west 2000 feet along East 66th Street. A
recently Installed chaln link fence (1984) with several pedestrian gates at
appropriate places on the numbered streets and with one auto entrance of f
Quincy Avenue, secures the perimeter on three sides. The main Woodland Avenue
side retains the ornamental iron picket fence, circa 1877, with carved
sandstone corner posts. The neighborhood, about 3.5 miles southeast of
Cleveland's central business district and designated in the 1960's and 1970's
as the East and West Central Urban Renewal Project Area, Is a mixture of low
rise public housing, vacant lots, single and multiple family housing, and

| ight commerclal and industrial |and uses. Directly south of Woodland
Cemetery, on Woodland Avenue, is Roman Cathol ic St. John Cemetery (1855),

The main entrance fronting Woodland Avenue is an elaborate Gothic style stone
gateway (chiefly 1870, with 1875 addition) whose arch over the roadway | Inks
the unused walting room on the west side with the seldom used office on the
east side. In Cleveland's Annua! Report, 1869-1871, the Board of Cemetery
trustees' report identifles the architect as Joseph Ireland, a New Yorker, who
) spent twenty years (1865-1885) in the Western Reserve. |In the East, Ireland
had worked in the office of R.G. Hatfield who speciallzed In institutional
bulldings. In the West, Ireland continued In that veln, mak ing substantial
contributions to the business and public architecture of the area, e.g. Geauga
County Courthouse (1860-1870). Unfortunately, his design is now rapidly
deteriorating. The main gate has been permenently closed to traffic so the
grounds must be entered via Quincy Avenue. The exterior stone facing on the
waiting room's west wall has collapsed. Fire damage fto the wooden
superstructure has not been repaired. Untended water and winter weather
damage is evident. Apparently, the city Is contemplating tearing the
structure down. No other common structures remain on the cemetery grounds.

Woodland's design exhibits at least three distinct platting styles. The first
20 acres fronting Woodland Avenue, lots 1 to 34, retain much of the mannered
circular design, iIn roadways, pathways, and grave rows, evident in landscape
gardener Howard Daniels' original design. Although there has not been found a
rendering of Daniels' actual design, it may be considered that the 1874
Cuyahoga County atlas outline Is very close to the original. In successive
atlas drawings there is evidence that the outer lots of the initial platting
were altered in |ater years to provide more grave space. Still, the features
of the 1852-53 scheme basically remain. The 1874 atlas shows about half of
the grounds in a formal curvilinear style; the other half is unplatted. The
northern half of the cemetery, platted at various times between 1875 and the
early years of the 20th century, has two different schemes. A less formal
attempt was made to retain the curvilinear theme in lots 35 through, though

| not consecutively, 95. A |ittle over half of the northeast quadrant,  platted
in straight sections Identified both numerically and alpha-numerically,

-- continued on attached sheet --
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Indicates an abandonment of even a semblance of continuing the original
curvil inear design.

Today, Woodland's landscape Is grass and trees, the prevailing specles being
sycamore, although a few other deciduous and coniferous types remaln. Past
cemetery trustees' reports indicate the varieties of species, such as maples
and arborvitae. While the grass is cut and dead wood removed on a regular
schedule, It Is obvious that the cemetery is not maintalned as well as It
might be or was when it was a fashionable place to ramble. Still a fair
number of graves show, by seasonal flowers, individual attention.

The formal curving roads and pathways of the oldest sections, the feature
which sets Woodland apart from Cleveland's other public and private
cemeteries, are now primarily In grass. They can be distinguished by someone
on site and they may be driven with caution because they are not maintalned
for regular auto traffic. This state of affairs contrasts with the apparent
good condition of the major roads as evidenced by a 1920's aerial photograph.
Main Drive, which bisects Woodland's length, Is paved and maintained, the only
) road to be so cared for now.

In the past the cemetery had some additional features. The Annual Reports
and popular 19th century historical narratives record the presence, at one
time or another, of a chapel (1880-1951), a receiving vault, at least two
ornamental fountains (1887), a superintendent's house, and various utility
buildings. The chapel occupied a circular space in the middle of the cemetery
and Main Drive. One fountain was placed in the smaller Main Drive circle
mid-way between the gateway and the chapel. Written descriptions from the
19th century testify fo the presence of entrances which no longer exlist.

Also, remains of sidewalk slabs can be found in older sections.

Woodland's monuments, simple and elaborate, show the succession of tastes and
and groups comprising the Cleveland community. The earlier sections developed
through the 1870's and 1880's maintain evidence of the "rural cemetery"
style's propensity to demarcate lot |ines with curbing and fencing. Many of
these features have been removed but some remain. Also remaining, In poor to
good condition, are a mixture of mausoleum styles ranging from functional flat
roof 1860's varieties to later, more elaborate Gothic and Greek temple
replicas. Because Woodland was Cleveland's main cemetery during and after the
Civil War, it Is the burial site for numerous white veterans, in Section 72
especially, and for a monument dedicated by General Rutherford B. Hayes in
1865, to the 7th Ohio Volunteer Infantry. The grave of at least one black
Civil War veteran, Willlam Jackson, is a military Issued stone on a family
plot. Tombstones In sections platted |ater are more modest in size and often

In other |anguages, such as Czech or German.
“




8. Significance

Seriod Areas of Significance—Check and justify below
— prehistoric _ archeology-prehistoric  _ community planning X landscape architecture _ religion
—— 1400-1499 — archeology-historic - — conservation - law — Science
—— 1500-1599  ___ agriculture --— economics —- - literature ' Sculpture
—— 1600-1699 __ architecture -—. education . .— military = social
- 1700-1799 _ _ art — engineering - music humanitarian
—X_ 1800-1899 — commerce —- exploration/settiement ___ philosophy — theater
— 1900~ ——. communications - industry —- politics government transportation
-~ — invention —— other (specity)
Specific dates 1852-1853 Builder/Architect Howard Daniels, landscape gardener

Statement of Significance (in one paragraph)

Criteria A and C

Woodland Cemetery merits inclusion on the National Register of Historic Places
by virtue of its initial design, in "rura| cemetary" style by New York
landscape gardener, Howard Daniels. Since Woodland was Cleveland's main
public cemetery for over fifty of the city's most dynamic years, it is a
repository of funerary artifacts useful in understanding the community's many
ethnic groups and various cultural periods. |In these areas this site meet -
those tests established to select properties of outstanding historic and
architectural significance.

In Its aesthetic Wood|and has maintained the essence of the "rural cemeteryn
design originally planned by Howard Daniels |n 1853. New sections platted
late Into the 19+h century continued to carry out, albeit with less grace, the

) curvilInear patterns of +he first sections. Un|ike other burial grounds of
This era which were done in "rural cemetery" style, grounds in Ohio and In
other parts of the United States, Woodland has essentially been left alone.
Some features have glven way under public pressure for more grave space, but
no wholesale re-designing of platted sections to meet subsequent changing
taste in cemetery |andscape styles has been done. The benign neglect of
Woodland's public owners has left its essence Intact.

It may be now forgotten but rural cemeteries stood as-a kind of transititon
between the first raw settlement and the more ref ined community which saw a
value in public open space, |ike parks. When Daniels himself, then of New
York City but formerly of Cincinnati until 1851, wrote In +he periodical,

(1860), that the rural cemetery was a "pecul iarly American
Institution" whose presence In large cities paved the way for "the next great
step In rural Progress....providing public Gardens and Parks for the people,n
he knew of what he spoke. Not only had Daniels, a solo practioneer by al|
accounts, designed numerous Ohijo rural cemeteries during the 1840's in
Cincinnati, Xenia and Columbus, but also he was talented enough to win fourth
place In the famed 1858 Central Park competition. The urban gentry, who were
Daniels! patrons, desired, whether under publlc or private ownership, the
distinctive scheme of the rural cemetery, a term denoting both a style of
landscape and of organization, a term used to distinguish one place of the
dead from another, the simpler village and church burying grounds. Thus, the
establ ishment of the antithetically named "rura| cemetery" in an urban area
Indicated from the 1830's through the 1850's, that influential gentlemen were
moved by an interest In horticul ture and design, or perhaps merely by a desire
to be fashionable. A |evel of community culture a cut above the essentia| had
been reached when a rural cemetery was establ ished.

—= continued on attached sheet --
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The Important place that Woodland held In Cleveland's |ife for over fifty
years supports these observations and those of Danlels. Woodland was, and is,
a cemetery. But It has also served as a park -- a spot for "scholars of the
Mayflower school" to picnic in 1859 -- for a city late In developing parks.
gnificant amount of green open space In Its
nelghborhood, it is used by the area's children and adults as a place to walk
in and through.

As Cleveland's chief public cemetery, and its only large one during the
crucial Civil War years, Wood|and served as the burying ground for several
generations of prominent greater Clevelanders as well as for war casualties.
In 1865 General Rutherford B. Hayes dedicated a dignified memorial column to
the 7th Ohio Volunteer Infantry's dead. The mos+ prominent war casualty,
however, was the state's governor, John Brough.

Today, when that war Is known through texts, the accomp | ishments of many are
overlooked. So it is with Brough, a Democrat, whose long service to Ohio, as
a member of its leglslature and as auditor (1839-1845), and to the nation
) during the Civil War, as the state's governor, has sl ipped from popular

memory. Nevertheless, his career has been detalled In the

» vol. 3, pp. 94-95, and his Civil War contribution cited
Iin James Ford Rhodes' account of the conflict. Brough's defeat of Clement
Val landigham in the 1863 gubernatorial contest is considered to have se+ the
stage for a final Union victory since the governor led a movement to raise
fresh troops for the northern cause. When Brough died In Cleveland In August,
1865, having not completed his term and having also previously announced his
withdreaw! from renomination for office, he was mourned by the mass of Ohio's
citizens. Cleveland's city councl| donated the grave site on the Maln drive's
grand circle. The subsequent|y erected obelisk fails to mention this man's
service to the state and nation. Formallly recognizing his modest, dignlified
grave site would be a fitting tribute.

Since Woodland began more than 130 years ago, Cleveland itself has grown from
@ community of about 15,000 to a metropol is of several hundred thousand, its
population swelled by diverse immigrant groups. These changes, though
nominal ly uninterpreted in the cemetery, are nevertheless able to be discerned
by those familiar with Cleveland's history. The graves of that first
generation of settlers, those immigrants from Connecticut who came early to
seek fortunes in real estate and commerce, are found in the older sections.
Often the stones are simple, befitting a frontier place. Such Is the marker
for Georgiana R. Mather, wife of Samuel L. Mather, who died in 1853, Soon,
simple stones gave way fo functional mausoleums, some of which showed
stylistic touches in the fashion of the day, e.g. Egyptian. The
Burridge/Brainerd structure (1860) is such an example.
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In the 1870's and 1880's although Cleveland's two most noted private
cemeteries had been Incorporated, Lakeview (1869) on the east and Rlverslde
(1875) on the west side of the Cuyahoga River, Woodland stil| attracted those
familles of an earlier commerclal bent. Though in poor conditlon now the
mausoleum of Martin Bowen Scott (1801-1872), grain shipper and vice-president
of the Western Reserve Historical Soclety (1867-1872), typifies this period.
Others of note are the J.R. Sprankle Gothic Revival tomb and the minlature
Greek Revival temple of William H. Brew, secretary of Younglove & Massey, an
architectural iron works firm. Whole sections of solid mausoleums and curbed
family lots bear witness to the success of the first and second generation of
Engl Ish-speak ing immigrants who regarded funerary display as a necessary
conclusion to |ife's accompl Ishments.

Following this period and perhaps no less successful In thelr own eyes were
the Middle and Eastern European immigrants of the 1880's, 1890's and 1900's.
Their smaller grave sites, some even today carefully and Individual ly tended,
marked thelr native |anguages or noting, In English, the country of their
birth, are predominant In newer platted sections. In one area a modestly

) handsome monument with medalllon celebrates Jacob Muel ler, an immigrant who
became a prominent Cleveland attorney and publisher as well as the state's
| leutenant governor (1872-1874). For some of these immigrants who were
Protestants or Free-Thinkers In thelr native, predominatly Roman Catholic
homelands, the publ ic cemetery was a last, welcome resting place since their
apostate status barred them from burial with thelr fellow countrymen.

Thus, probably inadvertently, Woodland has served for more than a century as a
truly community cemetery, burying black and white, the Immigrant for the East
Coast or Europe, the soclally prominent and the obscure, the rich and the
poor. For many decades It was cared for and adorned by the city. Now that it
has been superseded by a more spacious public facility, Woodland recelves |ess
yet still attentive care. It has not entirely lost the character that caused
one local newspaper to describe it, in 1853, thusly, "... as beautifully
prepared for a burial place as fancy and taste could desire.."

B
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Additlonal Information on the career of Howard Daniels, designer of Kood | and
Cemetery,

Howard Daniels (1814 or 1815 to 1863 or 1864, |ife dates estimated from an
obituary note in +he February, 1864, ist, giving his age as 49
years) was a multi-talented, apparently solo, practioner in Ohio and In New
York of the design arts, especlal |y landscape gardening and architecture, Hijs
most noted work is the Old Montgomery County Court House, (NR: 1/26/70)
Dayton, Ohio, a fine example of the Greek Revival style (Henry Whithey,
(1956), p. 161; Neville H.

Clouton, "t+he 0|d Monfgomery County Court House, Dayton, Ohio,"

of Archltectural Histor ians 26, no.4 (December, 1967 294-300),
Doubtlessly, more examples, most unidentified or |ater modified, exlist of his
landscape gardening, as the profession was called before 0lmsted Insisted on
"landscape architecture" in rural cemeteries, public parks or private estates.
In Ohio rural cemeteries positively Identified as Daniels' are as fol lows:
Spring Grove, Cincinnati, 1845-1846, |ater re-designed by Adolph Strauch in

) the lawn plan style; Wood | and, Xenia, 1847-1848; Green Lawn, Columbus

1849-1851; Wood|and, Cleveland 1852-1853, In New York state Oakwood Cemefery,
Syracuse, 1859, is positively by Daniels. Others which may be by him are
Wood | and, Dayton, Ohio 1843; and Fores+ Lawn, Buffalo, New York 1849-1850.
Sometimes Daniels Is credited with work on the suburb of Liewellyn Park, New
Jersey, but Jane B, Davies, who has researched and written about that place,
can find no evidence for this., When Howard Daniels died, he was working on
Druid Hil| Park, Baltimore, Maryland,




9. Major Bibliographical References

Deal, Mary H. '"Making Cleveland's Woodland Cemetery: A Speculative Urban Saga."
Journal of the Cuyahoga County Archives 3 (1985), in press.

The City of Cleveland, Annual Reports (1869-1916),

10. Geographical Data

Acreage of nominated property _ 60 Acres
Quadrangle name __C1€veland South Quadrangle scale _1$24,000/7.5 ser

UTM References
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Verbal boundary description and justification -- frop deed
Lots 12, 13, 14, 15, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35 in the subdivision of Original
Lots 331 and 332, Newburgh Township, Ohio ,... being 60-62/100 acres.

List all states and counties for properties overlapping state or county boundaries

state N/A code county code

te code county code

11. Form Prepared By

name/title Mary H. Deal

August 16, 1985

organization date
(216) 836-5488 or

street & number 2062 Ayers Avenue telephone  (513) 258-1938

cityortown Akron state  QOhio 44313

12. State Historic Preservation Officer Certification

The evaluated significance of this property within the state is:

— national — . state L local

As the designated State Historic Preservation Officer for the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law 89-
665), | hereby nominate this property for inclusion in the National Register and certity that it has been evaluated
according to the criteria and procedures set forth by the Nathm‘RPark S""U, >

State Historic Preservation Officer signature C\ : }»z—g:_‘_ N’LA—c_L
| t —7 '
titie g ,Z_Hf’;’ ) date ‘/ % j / gé
For NPS use only / [
| hereby certify that this property Is included In the National Register

date

Keeper of the National Register

Attest: date
Chief of Registration
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